IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COASTAL FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC00-1860

PHILLIP B. (PHIL) WILLIAMS, SHERIFF OF BREVARD COUNTY,

Respondent.____/

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER COASTAL FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, INC.

G. "Hal" Johnson, Esquire Florida Bar No. 200141 300 East Brevard Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 Telephone: (850) 222-3329 Facsimile: (850) 561-8898

Attorney for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following abbreviations and references will be used throughout the text of Petitioner's brief:

Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc: CFPBA.

Phillip B. Williams, Sheriff of Brevard County: Sheriff Williams.

Public Employees Relations Commission: PERC.

Record on Appeal: ROA at _____.

All references to the Florida Statutes will be to the 1999

version, unless otherwise noted.

For the Court's convenience, copies of the following cases

are contained in the appendix to the brief:

- TAB 1 <u>Williams v. Coastal Florida Police Benevolent</u> <u>Association Inc.</u>, ____ So.2d ____, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D2051, 2000 WL 1205626 (Fla. 5th DCA, Opinion August 25, 2000).
- TAB 2 <u>Service Employees International Union, Local 16,</u> <u>AFL-CIO v. Public Employees Relations Commission</u>, 752 So.2d 569 (Fla. 2000).
- TAB 3 <u>Chiles v. State Employees Attorneys Guild</u>, 734 So.2d 1030 (Fla. 1999).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In mid-January, 2000, the Florida Supreme Court issued its decision in the case of <u>Service Employees International Union</u> <u>Local 16, AFL-CIO v. Public Employees Relations Commission</u>, 752 So.2d 569 (Fla. 2000). The decision resulted in a flourish of organizational activities for the purpose of collective bargaining among the deputy sheriffs in Florida.

¹ ROA at 114-115.

On February 16, 2000, the Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., filed a representation certification petition with the Public Employees Relations Commission seeking to be certified as the exclusive collective bargaining agent for a bargaining unit comprised of certain sworn personnel working for the Brevard County Sheriff's Office in the positions of deputy sheriff, field training officer, corporal and sergeant. ROA at 13-15. The petition excluded from the proposed bargaining unit non-sworn personnel for the Sheriff as well as sworn personnel in the positions of lieutenant, major, inspector, commander, chief deputy and sheriff. ROA at 14. The petition was accompanied by showing of interest statements signed by 165 of the estimated 372 deputies included in CFPBA's proposed bargaining unit.

² ROA at 14.

PERC issued a notice of sufficiency with respect to CFPBA's representation petition

¹ As noted by PERC, there are seven other representation certification petitions pending before it at the present time involving literally thousands of deputy sheriffs. ROA at 114-115.

² Section 447.307(2), Florida Statues, requires a representation certification petition be accompanied by showing of interest statements signed by 30 percent of the individuals in the proposed bargaining unit sought to be represented by the petitioning organization.

on February 18, 2000. ROA at 17-18. It found the petition was sufficient on its face and ordered an evidentiary hearing to resolve factual and legal disputes concerning the petition. ROA at 17 and 40-41. PERC's notice of sufficiency specifically noted:

The Florida Supreme Court's recent opinion in *Service Employees International Union, Local 16, AFL-CIO v. Public Employees Relations Commission*, et al., No. SC 94-427 (Fla. January 13, 2000), casts doubt as to the vitality of its prior decision in *Murphy v. Mack*, 358 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1978), holding that deputy sheriffs are not public employees. Therefore, we find this petition to represent deputy sheriffs for the purpose of collective bargaining sufficient in order to develop a record as to the deputies' duties and responsibilities vis-à-vis the sheriff himself.

ROA at 17.

Subsequently, Sheriff Williams filed a petition for writ of prohibition with the Fifth District Court of Appeal. ROA at 1-12. The sheriff sought a writ prohibiting PERC from exercising jurisdiction over the CFPBA petition as it related to "individuals appointed as deputy sheriffs." ROA at 6. The sheriff argued that the case of <u>Murphy v. Mack</u>, 358 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1978), controlled the matter and PERC lacked jurisdiction to proceed to an evidentiary hearing. ROA at 6.

On August 25, 2000, the district court issued its opinion denying Sheriff Williams'

petition and certifying the legal issue raised by the petition to this Court, stating:

We think the *Service Employees* case has substantially eroded the rationale of the *Murphy* case, but we are concerned that we may be in error in our reading of *Service Employees*. Since this is a case of great public importance and there are several similar cases pending before PERC, we certify to the Florida Supreme Court the following question:

ARE DEPUTY SHERIFFS CATEGORICALLY EXCLUDED FROM HAVING COLLECTIVE BARGAINING RIGHTS UNDER CHAPTER 447?

We therefore deny the writ, but grant the stay of the proceedings below to enable the parties to seek review in the Florida Supreme Court.

ROA at 148.

Following invocation of the court's discretionary jurisdiction by CFPBA, this Court deferred accepting jurisdiction of the case and directed the parties to file briefs on the merits of the case. ROA at 156.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court's general holding in the case of <u>Service</u> <u>Employees International Union, Local 16, AFL-CIO v. Public</u> <u>Employees Relations Commission</u>, 752 So.2d 569, 573 (Fla. 2000), that all of Florida's public workers, regardless of job title, enjoy the right to collectively bargain is correct. The legal analysis and rationale utilized by the Court in the case is also correct, from both a common sense and constitutional perspective. Applying the <u>Service Employees</u> and other recent court decisions relating to the right to collective bargaining to the certified question posed by the district court leads to only a single conclusion: deputy sheriffs are not categorically excluded from collective bargaining rights under Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes.

In the <u>Service Employees</u> case, the Court confronts for the second time in a year, a fundamental question regarding the right to collectively bargain: which of Florida's public workers are guaranteed the right to collectively bargain? <u>See also, Chiles v. State Employees Attorneys Guild</u>, 734 So.2d 1030 (Fla. 1999). Its answer is clear and unequivocal: all individuals who work as employees in the "ordinary sense of the word" are entitled to collectively bargain. 752 So.2d at 753. The only exceptions to this general standard are managerial level employees, as well as other limited specialized workers,

whose exclusion from collective bargaining is warranted by a compelling state interest. 752 So.2d at 753 and <u>Chiles v. State</u> <u>Employees Attorneys Guild</u>, 734 So.2d at 1033-1034.

The Court's rationale in both Service Employees and <u>Attorneys Guild</u> cases is simple, straightforward and constitutionally founded. Collective bargaining is а fundamental constitutional right applicable to all Florida workers, both public and private. Article I, Section 6, Florida Constitution. As such, it applies broadly to all persons who work as employees in the ordinary sense of the word and may only be denied or restricted based upon a compelling state interest implemented in the least intrusive means possible. 752 So.2d at 571 and 734 So.2d at 1033-1034. See also, Hillsborough County Governmental Employees Association, Inc. v. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority, 522 So.2d 358, 362 (Fla. 1988).

In <u>Service Employees</u>, this Court recognizes that, today, the deputies of Florida's constitutional officers resemble "public employees" in the ordinary sense of the word. 752 So.2d at 573. In fact, the Court has specifically recognized deputy sheriffs are employees in the commonly understood meaning of the term. <u>Ison v. Zimmerman</u>, 372 So.2d 431, 436 (Fla. 1979). Clearly, deputy sheriffs are public workers, regardless of job title, entitled to collectively bargain under application of the <u>Service Employees</u> rationale and are not categorically excluded from collective bargaining under Chapter 447, Part II,

Florida Statutes.

Furthermore, the decision and rationale of <u>Murphy v. Mack</u>, 358 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1978), offer no basis for categorically denying this valuable constitutional right to Florida's deputy sheriffs. The rationale of <u>Murphy</u> does not meet the exacting standard of review, i.e. strict judicial scrutiny, for any legislative or judicial decision, which seeks to abridge the right to collectively bargain.

As this Court correctly notes in <u>Service Employees</u>, the <u>Murphy</u> case reflects, essentially, an unwarranted precisionist's review and application of the constitutional right to collectively bargain which exalts form over substance. 752 So.2d at 573. Neither the technical distinctions in terminology cited, nor the cases relied upon in <u>Murphy</u> establish a compelling state interest for denying deputy sheriffs the right to collectively bargain which is presently enjoyed by the rest of Florida's public workers and law enforcement officers. 752 So.2d at 573.

The Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., requests the Florida Supreme Court accept jurisdiction of this case and find that deputy sheriffs in Florida are not categorically excluded from having collective bargaining rights under Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes.

ISSUE PRESENTED

ARE DEPUTY SHERIFFS CATEGORICALLY EXCLUDED FROM HAVING COLLECTIVE BARGAINING RIGHTS UNDER CHAPTER 447?

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

APPLICATION OF THIS COURT'S HOLDINGS AND RATIONALE IN ITS RECENT <u>SERVICE EMPLOYEES</u> AND <u>ATTORNEYS</u> <u>GUILD</u> DECISIONS DICTATES THAT THE COURT FIND DEPUTY SHERIFFS ARE NOT CATEGORICALLY EXCLUDED FROM COLLECTIVE BARGAINING RIGHTS UNDER CHAPTER 447, PART II, FLORIDA STATUTES.

In the past year, this Court has issued two significant decisions involving the right to collectively bargain, which is guaranteed to Florida's public workers by Article I, Section 6, Florida Constitution. The first case, <u>Chiles v. State</u> <u>Employees Attorneys Guild</u>, 734 So.2d 1030 (Fla. 1999), holds that persons employed as attorneys by the State of Florida cannot be categorically denied the right to collectively bargain under Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes. The Court finds that a statute imposing such a blanket ban on collective bargaining by the State's attorneys is unconstitutional because it does not serve a compelling state interest in the least intrusive means possible. *Id.* at 1036.

Approximately seven months later, the Court issued a second decision involving the right of Florida's public workers to engage in collective bargaining. The second case, <u>Service</u> <u>Employees International Union, Local 16, AFL-CIO v. Public</u>

<u>Employees Relations Commission</u>, 752 So.2d 569 (Fla. 2000), finds specifically that Florida's deputy court clerks are public employees within the contemplation of Section 447.203(3), Florida Statutes. *Id.* at 569.

More importantly, the Court uses the decision to establish a "bright line" test for determining which of Florida's public workers enjoy collective bargaining rights. *Id*. At 573-574. The test is whether an individual works as an employee in the "ordinary sense of the word." If so, he or she is entitled to collectively bargain. *Id*. at 573-574. In so holding, the Court severely criticizes, if not implicitly reverses, an earlier decision rendered in the case of <u>Murphy v. Mack</u>, 358 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1988), finding that deputy sheriffs are not "public employees" under Chapter 447. *Id*. at 573-574.

The present case is the logical extension of the Court's rationale in the <u>Attorneys Guild</u> and <u>Service Employees</u> decisions. It places the "blanket ban" against collective bargaining by Florida's deputy sheriffs, squarely before the Court.

It is the position of CFPBA that the Court's holdings and rationale in <u>Attorneys</u> and <u>Service Employees</u> dictate a single, logical and constitutional result in the present case: a finding that deputy sheriffs are not categorically excluded from collective bargaining rights under Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes.

A. The Attorneys Guild and Service Employees Cases

The <u>Attorneys Guild</u> and <u>Service Employees</u> cases reflect the current law with respect to the ability of the legislature or judiciary to deny Florida's public workers the right to collectively bargain. While the holdings in the cases are significant, of equal significance is the fact that each case reflects a more legally refined and common sense approach to this fundamental right, not found in earlier decisions of the Court.

As previously stated, the <u>Attorneys Guild</u> case deals with an attempt by the legislature to categorically exclude the attorneys working for the State of Florida from the right to collectively bargain. 734 So.2d at 1032. The legislature attempted to achieve this "blanket ban" against bargaining by excluding the attorneys from the definition of "public employee" as defined in Section 447.203(3). Id.

The significance of the decision rests not only in the Court's holding that such a prohibition is unconstitutional, but also, in the standard of review adopted by the Court to be used in analyzing statutory prohibitions to bargaining imposed by the legislature. *Id.* at 1033. The standard is one of the strict judicial scrutiny:

> A statute abridging the right of state employees to bargain is consonant with the constitution only if it vindicates a

compelling state interest by minimally necessary means.

734 So.2d at 1033 (quoting lower court opinion with approval). <u>See also</u>, <u>Hillsborough County Governmental Employees</u> <u>Association v. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority</u>, 572 So.2d 358, 362 (Fla. 1988). This standard is a refinement, and a more strict standard of review than previously utilized by the courts. *Id*. at 1033

The legal principle to be drawn from the <u>Attorneys Guild</u> decision is that a blanket ban (or categorical exclusion) prohibiting a class of Florida's public workers from collective bargaining is unconstitutional unless it "vindicates a compelling state interest by minimally necessary means."

The <u>Service Employees</u> case provides additional refinement to this area of the law by providing a broad, common-sense interpretation of the term "public employee" found in Section 447.203(3). Instead of confronting a specific legislative prohibition to bargain like the one in reviewed in the <u>Attorneys Guild</u> case, the Court in <u>Service Employees</u> confronts an implicit judicial prohibition to collectively bargain imposed on Florida's "deputy" court clerks and premised on the historical status of Florida's "deputies," espoused in the case of <u>Murphy v. Mack</u>, 358 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1978).

In <u>Service Employees</u>, the Court rejects job-title based distinctions and historical premises for denying Florida's

public workers the constitutional right to collectively bargain. 752 So.2d at 572-573. Instead, the Court uses a common-sense test to determining whether or not a worker constitutes a "public employee." The test is simply whether an individual works for an employer in the "ordinary sense of the word." *Id*. 752 So.2d at 573. The Court supports this broad, inclusive interpretation of Section 447.203(3), by reliance on Article I, Section 6, Florida Constitution, as well as the legislative statement of intent set forth in Section 447.201, Florida Statutes. *Id*. at 570-571.

Significantly, the Court confronts squarely the <u>Murphy</u> decision rejecting it as exalting form over substance in "contravention of the plain language and broad purpose" of Chapter 447, Part II. *Id.* at 573. The Court discredits the technical distinctions relied on in <u>Murphy</u> to support denying deputy sheriffs the right to collectively bargain. *Id.* at 573. Furthermore, it notes that the cases relied on in <u>Murphy</u> do not involve the same facts or policy issues raised by the right to collectively bargain. *Id.* at 573.

Refusing to follow the technical, precisionist approach found in <u>Murphy</u>, the Court in <u>Service Employees</u> adopts a bright line, common-sense approach to the issue of bargaining rights:

> Based on the foregoing, we hold that where the collective bargaining rights of public employees are in issue, the plain language of chapter 447 controls and applies across the board to all public workers, regardless of

job title. The abiding bright line for determining coverage under part II is the simple "public employee/managerial employee" dichotomy set forth in section 447.203. If an individual works as an employee in the ordinary sense of the word under the criteria set forth in section 447.203(3), he or she is entitled to the protections of part II. On the other hand, if an individual works as a managerial level employee under the criteria set forth in section 447.203(4) or falls within any of the other exceptions listed in section 447.203(3), the protections of part II are inapplicable.

Id. at 573-574.

The legal principle to be drawn from <u>Service Employees</u> is that the determination of coverage under Chapter 447, Part II, does not rest on an individual's job title or other technical terms, but instead, on whether an individual works as an employee in the "ordinary sense of the word." *Id*. at 573.

B. Deputy Sheriffs are Public Employees Within the Meaning of Article I, Section 6

Application of the legal principles utilized by the Court in the <u>Service Employees</u> and <u>Attorneys Guild</u> decisions leads to only one answer to the question certified by the district court: deputy sheriffs are not categorically excluded from having collective bargaining rights under Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes. This answer is dictated by the fact deputy sheriffs are employees in the ordinary sense of the word. <u>See</u>, <u>Ison v. Zimmerman</u>, 372 So.2d 431, 436 (Fla. 1979).

As recognized by the First District Court of Appeal in the

case of <u>United Faculty of Florida v. Board of Regents</u>, 417 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), Article I, Section 6 applies to employees in the common ordinary meaning of the term which was defined in the case of <u>City of Boca Raton v. Mattef</u>, 81 So.2d 644, 647 (Fla. 1956):

> An employee is one who for consideration agrees to work subject to the orders and direction of another, usually for regular wages but not necessarily so, and further, agrees to subject himself at all times during the period of service to the lawful order and directions of the other in respect to the work done.

417 So.2d at 1058.

³ Clearly, today's deputy sheriffs meet the commonly understood definition of "employee" defined by the Court in <u>Mattef</u>.

4

Additionally, in the case of Ison v. Zimmerman, supra, this Court held that "in the

common meaning of the word 'employee', a deputy sheriff is an employee of the sheriff, or a

³ The United Faculty of Florida case involved a legislative prohibition against collective bargaining by graduate assistants working for the State universities. 417 So.2d at 1057. The district court employed an analysis strikingly similar to that found in the Attorneys Guild and Service prohibition Employees decisions in finding such а unconstitutional. Id. at 1058-1059. Ironically, this same type of analysis was utilized by the district court in the Murphy case before the decision was overturned by this Court. See, Murphy v. Mack, 341 So.2d 1008, 1009 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) rev'd 358 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1978).

⁴ The Court in *Service Employees* tacitly acknowledges the employee status of deputy sheriffs finding that deputy sheriffs work for a sheriff in the same manner that a municipal police officer works for a police chief. 752 So.2d at 573, fn. 9.

person whose services are engaged and recompensed by the sheriff." 372 So.2d at 436. Thus, even this Court has acknowledged that deputy sheriffs are employees, and the historical terminology related to the term "deputy sheriff" or "officer" is largely a precisionist refinement upon the common meaning of "employee". 372 So.2d at 436.

Simply put, deputy sheriffs are public workers or employees in the ordinary sense of the word. Under the "bright line" test announced by the Court in <u>Service Employees</u>, deputy sheriffs enjoy the right to collectively bargain and the protections of Chapter 447, Part II, unless they are managerial level employees, fall within other exceptions listed in Section 447.203(3), or there is a compelling state interest, which warrants depriving them of their constitutional right to bargain.

C. <u>Murphy</u> Rationale Cannot Pass Compelling State Interest Test

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