IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COASTAL FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, INC.

Petitioner,

| vs. | CASE NO. SC00-1860 |
|---|--------------------|
| PHILIP B. (PHIL) WILLIAMS, as Sheriff of Brevard County, Florida, | |
| Respondent. | _/ |
| | |
| | |
| RESPONDENT'S ANS | WER BRIEF |

Prepared by:

PHILLIP P. QUASCHNICK Florida Bar No. 224677

POWERS, QUASCHNICK, TISCHLER,

EVANS & DIETZEN

Post Office Box 12186 Tallahassee, Florida 32308 (850) 942-5522

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petitioner, Coastal Florida PBA, is requesting this Court to overrule twenty-two years of precedent and now hold that deputy sheriffs may collectively bargain. To the contrary, this Court correctly decided the issue in Murphy v. Mack, 358 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1978), wherein it held that deputy sheriffs are common law officers and not employees within the meaning of Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes. The unanimous Murphy decision invited the legislature to amend the definition of public employee in Section 447.203(2), Florida Statutes, to provide collective bargaining rights to deputy sheriffs.

The legislature declined to do so when it re-enacted the statute on three separate occasions after the Murphy decision. Moreover, the legislature definitively expressed its intent not to grant deputy sheriffs collective bargaining rights when it amended Chapter 30, Florida Statutes, providing deputies with certain protections against political retaliation, and the Police Officers' Bill of Rights, including deputy sheriffs within that statute. In both enactments the legislature stated that it did not intend to grant deputies the right to collectively bargain. §30.071(2), Fla. Stat. (1999); §112.535, Fla. Stat. (1999). Thus, the legislature has clearly articulated its intention to not grant collective bargaining rights to deputy sheriffs in conformity with this Court's decision in Murphy.

The PBA's reliance upon this Court's recent decisions in Service Employees Int'l

<u>Union, Local 16 v. PERC</u>, 752 So.2d 569 (Fla. 2000) and <u>Chiles v. State Employees</u>

<u>Attorneys' Guild</u>, 734 So.2d 1030 (Fla. 1999), is misplaced. While <u>Service Employees</u>

may have questioned the decision in <u>Murphy</u>, it did not overrule <u>Murphy</u> but rather refused

to extend <u>Murphy</u> to deputy clerks of the court. This Court noted that there was no

indication that the legislature intended to deny collective bargaining rights to deputy clerks

of the court. In contrast, the legislature has definitively expressed its intent on the subject

with regard to deputy sheriffs.

The <u>Chiles</u> decision does not apply in this case because there the issue was whether employees, who otherwise possessed the right to collectively bargain under Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution, may be denied that right by legislation based upon a rationale basis or a compelling state interest. Here, deputy sheriffs are common law officers and not employees as that term has been construed by this Court with regard to the Florida Constitution. In particular, this Court decided in <u>Ison v. Zimmerman</u>, 372 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1979), that deputy sheriffs could be covered by a local civil service act pursuant to Article III, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution, not as employees but rather as officers. Thus, deputy sheriffs are not employees as that term is utilized in Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution.

Since Murphy remains the law of the state, the Fifth District Court of Appeal erred by not granting the Petitioner's, Sheriff Philip B. Williams, petition for writ of prohibition. The District Court of Appeal should have ordered PERC to dismiss the PBA's petition, which the PBA could then have appealed based upon its assertion that Murphy should be overruled.

ARGUMENT

DEPUTY SHERIFFS ARE NOT PUBLIC EMPLOYEES WITHIN THE MEANING OF CHAPTER 447, PART II, OR ARTICLE 1, SECTION 6 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The issue presented for this Court's attention is whether it should overrule twenty-two years of precedent and hold for the first time that deputy sheriffs have the right to collectively bargain. The intervening years since this Court first ruled in the matter have not produced any circumstances that would warrant such a change. Indeed, clear manifestations of legislative intent demonstrate that the definition of "public employee" set forth in Section 447.203(3) was never intended to include deputy sheriffs. Nor were deputy sheriffs intended to be included within the term "public employees" set forth in Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution.

The Murphy Decision

Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes, was enacted in 1974 to provide a comprehensive scheme for public employee collective bargaining.

¹ The term "public employee" is defined in Section 447.203(3), in pertinent part, as

¹ Ch. 74-100, Laws of Florida.

follows:

(3) "Public Employee" means any person employed by a public employer except:

The statute then lists certain exemptions, none of which are relevant to this case.

In the seminal case of Murphy v. Mack, 358 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1978), this Court first addressed whether deputy sheriffs come within the definition of "public employee" set forth in Section 447.203. The Court ruled that deputy sheriffs hold a common law office by appointment and, therefore, they were not employed by the sheriff.

² In defining "public employee" the legislature did not indicate its intent to encompass deputy sheriffs in derogation of the common law. 358 So.2d at 824. Upon examining its prior decisions regarding the relationship between sheriffs and deputies, the Court noted that in the past it had never described deputies as employees, but rather as officers who are invested with the same sovereign power as the sheriff. <u>Id</u>. at 825.

For example, in <u>Blackburn v. Brorein</u>, 70 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1954), this Court held that a local law providing civil service protection for county employees did not apply to deputy

² The Court also held that sheriffs meet the definition of "public employer" set forth in Section 447.203(2), Florida Statutes (1975), and, therefore, "employees" of a sheriff, such as clerical assistants, have the right to collectively bargain. 358 So.2d at 824.

sheriffs for the simple reason that they are not employees, but rather appointees who hold a common law office clothed with the same sovereign power as the sheriff. <u>Id</u>. at 297. The Court explained the necessity for a sheriff to maintain absolute control over the selection and retention of deputies in order for the electorate to place responsibility upon the sheriff for law enforcement within the county. <u>Id</u>. at 298.

In <u>Parker v. Hill</u>, 72 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1954), this Court held that deputies were covered under the workers' compensation law, not as employees, but as "officers not elected at the polls." The First District Court of Appeal likewise held that deputy sheriffs were not employees under the Police Officers' Bill of Rights, §112.531-.535, Fla. Stat. (1975). See, <u>Johnson v. Wilson</u>, 336 So.2d 651 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976).

The <u>Murphy</u> decision further quoted with approval the following passage from 70 Am.Jur.2d <u>Sheriffs, Police and Constables</u> §2:

The office of under or deputy sheriff is a common-law office; and this is the rule unless a change is effected by the constitution or statute law of the state. He holds an appointment, as distinguished from an employment. Where so clothed with power, a deputy sheriff is a public officer, although he may not be a state or municipal officer within the meaning of constitutional provisions. A deputy sheriff is a public officer under laws which require his appointment by the sheriff to be approved by a judge, and which provide that he must take an oath of office, and confer on his powers and duties equal to those of the sheriff himself. As such, he has been held not subject to civil service regulations. And in the absence of specific language, including

deputy sheriffs, a deputy sheriff has been held to be an official, and not an employee, of a county, within the meaning of a workers' compensation act. A deputy sheriff has been held to be embraced within the words 'or other county officer' contained in a statute relating to jury service, and, a special deputy, or one employee in particular cases, has been held to be an officer of the state under a statutory provision relating thereto.

358 So.2d at 825.

In light of the well settled principle of law that a statute will not displace common law unless the legislature expressly indicates an intention to do so,

³ this Court simply had no choice but to rule that the legislature had not sufficiently articulated an intent to deviate from common law by including deputy sheriffs within the definition of "public employee" set forth in Section 447.203, Florida Statutes (1975). The Court in <u>Murphy</u> invited the legislature to address this issue, by stating:

In the absence of language including deputy sheriffs within the definition set forth in Chapter 447, Florida Statutes (1975), we find that they are not encompassed by the act.

358 So.2d at 826.

As demonstrated below, the legislature has declined to accept the Court's invitation to amend the statute. To the contrary, the legislature has expressly indicated its approval of this Court's decision in <u>Murphy</u>.

³ <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Kitchen v. K-Mart Corp.</u>, 697 So.2d 1200, 1207 (Fla. 1997); <u>In re Forfeiture of 1978 Chevrolet Van</u>, 493 So.2d 433, 437 (Fla. 1986).

Legislative Response

It is a well settled rule of statutory construction that when a statute which has been judicially construed is re-enacted by the legislature, it is presumed that the legislature was aware of the construction and intended to adopt it absent a clear expression to the contrary. Gulfstream Park Racing Ass'n, Inc. v. Dept. of Business Regulation, 441 So.2d 627, 628 (Fla. 1983); Collins Investment Co. v. Metro Dade County, 164 So.2d 806, 809 (Fla. 1964). Subsequent to the Murphy decision, the legislature amended Section 447.203 thirteen times. On three occasions it specifically re-enacted the definition of "public employee" without changing the statute to include deputy sheriffs. Ch. 94-89 §1, Laws of Florida; Ch. 81-305 §2, Laws of Florida; Ch. 79-100 §1, Laws of Florida.

The legislature has also explicitly expressed its intent to not provide deputy sheriffs collective bargaining rights. As previously noted in Murphy, the Police Officers' Bill of Rights was construed to exclude deputy sheriffs from coverage because they were not employed by the sheriff. Johnson v. Wilson, supra. In response, the legislature amended the definition of law enforcement officer to specifically include deputy sheriffs within the Police Officers' Bill of Rights. Ch. 93-19, Laws of Florida, amending §112.531, Fla. Stat. (1995). In doing so, the legislature enacted Section 112.535, Florida Statutes (1995), which expressed its intent that deputy sheriffs not have the right to collectively bargain:

The provisions of -19-19, Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis added).

In 1994, the legislature amended Chapter 30, Florida Statutes, to prohibit political retaliation against deputy sheriffs and to provide a procedure for appealing termination of their appointments for lawful off-duty political activity. Ch. 94-143, Laws of Florida, codified as §§30.071-.079, Fla. Stat. (1995). Once again, the legislature expressed its intent to preclude deputy sheriffs from collective bargaining in Section 30.071(2), Florida Statutes (1995), which states "This act does not grant to deputy sheriffs the right to collectively bargain." Moreover, the relationship between sheriffs and deputies as discussed in Blackburn and Murphy was codified in Section 30.071(3), which provides "This act does not change the alter ego relationship which exists between deputy sheriffs and the appointing sheriff."

Obviously, several of the appointees set forth in the Section 30.07(2) exclusion, especially those managing a department or subdivision of the Sheriff's Office, would

⁴ The PBA's claim that deputy definitional exclusions from Section 30.072(2) track the managerial confidential definitions of Sections 447.203(4) and (5) cannot withstand close scrutiny. Rather, Section 30.07(2) operates to exclude several other deputies who would not be excludable under the managerial confidential definitions. The statute is actually an amalgam of exclusions drawn from several federal statutes and regulations. For example, reference to the "members of the Sheriff's personal staff who report to or work under the direct supervision of the Sheriff," parrots the "elected official exemption" set forth in the Fair Labor Standards Act 29 U.S.C. §203(e)(2)(C), 29 C.F.R. §553.10-.12, which excludes those appointed positions who are under the direct supervision of the selecting elected official. Also the Section 30.072(2) listing of positions - "undersheriff, chief deputy, director, legal advisor" reflect those individuals who qualify as a "member of personal staff" to the elected official as envisioned under 29 C.F.R. §553.11(b) or as an "immediate advisor" under 29 C.F.R. §553.11(d). The phrase "appointees whose duties primarily involve the management or operation of the Sheriff's Office or department or subdivision of that office" are lifted from the criteria for the executive exemption of the Fair Labor Standards Act under 29 C.F.R. §541.1(f), which requires that the executive "employee's primary duty must be the management of the enterprise, or of a customarily recognized department or subdivision."

In light of the foregoing, it is self evident that the legislature approved the construction placed on Section 447.203(3), Florida Statutes (1975), defining "public employee" as not encompassing deputy sheriffs. Overruling <u>Murphy</u> by now holding that Section 447.203 covers deputy sheriffs would fly in the face of clear and unmistakable legislative intent.

Post Murphy Decisions

This Court's analysis of the sheriff/deputy relationship articulated in Murphy has been applied by this Court, the District Courts of Appeal, and federal courts in Florida, as well as the Public Employees Relations Commission.

A year after the <u>Murphy</u> decision, <u>Ison v. Zimmerman</u>, 372 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1979), was decided. There, a terminated deputy sheriff alleged that he was entitled to a grievance hearing pursuant to Section 447.401, Florida Statutes (1975), and a civil service hearing pursuant to a local law, Ch. 67-1149, Laws of Florida. The grievance hearing issue was quickly disposed of by this Court, reaffirming its holding in <u>Murphy</u>:

We find no merit to appellant's contention that as a "public employee" he is entitled to relief under chapter 447. Confronted with the identical question of whether a deputy sheriff is a "public employee" under the definition of this term in chapter 447, we have already answered this question in the negative in Murphy v. Mack, 358 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1978). In recognition of the peculiar status of the deputy sheriff as officer of the sheriff, himself a constitutional officer, we held there that a deputy sheriff was not a "public employee" within the contemplation of chapter 447. A deputy sheriff was

not satisfy the narrowly construed Chapter 447 managerial confidential exclusions.

therein distinguished from other employees of the sheriff, such as secretaries. 372 So.2d at 433.

The Court went on to uphold the deputy's right to a civil service hearing based upon Article III, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution and Section 30.53, Florida Statutes (1975). 372 So.2d at 434. The constitutional provision authorized creation of civil service systems by general or local law for employees and for "such offices thereof as are not elected or appointed by the governor." The statute, on the other hand, authorized creation of civil service systems for sheriff's office personnel. The Court based its conclusion on the deputy's status as an "officer" and not an "employee."

Finally, subsequent legislative action supports a construction of article III, section 14 of the 1968 constitution that allows creation of civil service systems by special or local laws for deputies as <u>officers</u> "not elected or appointed by the governor."

372 So.2d at 434 (emphasis added).

The PBA refers solely to the portion of the <u>Ison</u> opinion holding that inclusion of the term "employees" in the title to the local civil service law did not render the law unconstitutional as applied to deputy sheriffs. The Court noted that the legal distinction between officers and employees would not be sufficient to meet the heavy burden required to render the local law unconstitutional. However, conspicuous by its absence from the

PBA's brief is the fact that the <u>Ison</u> decision upheld and reaffirmed the legal distinction between deputy sheriffs as officers and not employees as discussed in <u>Murphy</u>.

Labor unions have attacked the rationale in Murphy on both the state and federal level without success. In Brevard County PBA, Inc. v. Brevard County Sheriff's Dept., 416 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), the court upheld an order of the Public Employees Relations Commission dismissing an unfair labor practice charge against the Brevard Sheriff for refusing to collectively bargain over deputy sheriffs.

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